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To the memory of Richard Perry Mulholland (1925–1992), the Chief’s only grandson


A story that was the subject of every variety of misrepresentation, not only by those who then lived but likewise in succeeding times: so true is it that all transactions of preeminent importance are wrapt in doubt and obscurity; while some hold for certain facts the most precarious hearsays, others turn facts into falsehood; and both are exaggerated by posterity.

Robert Graves, I, Claudius
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Preface

Los Angeles … No ordinary rules explain its past growth or set limits to its future expansion. It has been, and will be, a law unto itself.

WILLIAM E. SMYTHE,
The Conquest of Arid America

 

 

A HISTORIC DISPUTE

William Mulholland presided over the creation of a water system that changed forever the course of Southern California history, and in so doing he became the focus of a controversy that has never died. When Los Angeles went water hunting and laid claim to the waters of the Owens River over two hundred miles away, its actions so conflicted with competing interests that they gave rise to a struggle of mythic proportions. Reading the varying accounts of this action reminds one of the classic paradox All Cretans are liars, said the man from Crete. Who lies? Does everyone lie or does everyone one tell the truth? Even if the dead could be brought back, could they tell us what we want to know? Writers who have scrutinized the same public documents, official records, and private correspondence have arrived at contrary conclusions, so the existing literature on the story of Los Angeles’s water is not only voluminous but also often dissonant.

When I began research for this work in 1989, four books on the subject especially deserved serious consideration, each offering different yet valuable versions of the water story. The important pioneer effort was The Water Seekers (1950), by Remi Nadeau, a highly readable work that subsequent scholarship has somewhat superseded. Water and Politics: A Study of Water Policies and Administration in the Development of Los Angeles (1953), by Vincent Ostrom, is probably the best and most precise single survey of the subject but tends to be impersonal in its treatment of the individuals involved in the story. Vision or Villainy: Origins of the Owens Valley–Los Angeles Water Controversy (1981), by Abraham Hoffman, is a fair-minded and thorough work, especially valuable for its examination of the roles J. B. Lippincott and the Reclamation Service played in the Owens Valley saga. The fourth, Water and Power (1982), by William Kahrl (editor of the estimable California Water Atlas), while containing a wealth of documentation, technical information, and a valuable bibliography, is also full of inaccuracies and, because of its unremittingly jaundiced view of Los Angeles and its water seekers, ultimately proves to be a polemic masquerading as a scholarly study. Water and Power has been influential, however, in subsequent works that have relied and elaborated on Kahrl’s views: Cadillac Desert (1986), a screed by Marc Reisner on the evils of water development in the West; Western Times and Water Wars (1992), by John Walton, a study of Owens Valley that is somewhat in the manner of the Annales school of French historiography as found in LeRoy Ladurie’s Montaillou and that describes the purported injustice inflicted by large governmental power over a small region; and The Lost Frontier (1994), by John Sauder, an inquiry into the agricultural losses sustained in Owens Valley because of Los Angeles’s water development. Although none of the authors of this latter group is as extreme as the popular Western writer Wallace Stegner, who wrote that he considered building a dam evidence of original sin, each reflects the fin de siècle skepticism toward large water projects along with a disapproval of Los Angeles and a resolute bias favoring Owens Valley. The inclination to side with the underdog is powerful and humane but also risks committing what Bertrand Russell called “the fallacy of the superior virtue of the oppressed.” Even the objective scholar-historian Norris Hundley has described Los Angeles as “the West’s most notorious water hustler” in Water and the West (1975), and in his extensive overview of California water history, The Great Thirst (1992), he trivializes the building of the Owens Valley Aqueduct under a pejorative chapter heading, “The Owens Valley Caper.” These works’ contentions have helped create public perceptions such as a woman recently voiced at an environmental conference I attended when she fairly shouted, “Mulholland was no engineer. All he did was take a few pipes up north and run water down and help make some men rich,” or such as a recent news article expressed when it described “the shadowy fiddling that sucked Owens Valley water into Los Angeles.” In these versions, Mulholland emerges as an antihero rather than an admired bringer of water. As one of his nieces once ruefully remarked, “The Greeks beat the Trojans, but now, after three thousand years, it is a greater compliment to be called a Trojan.”

In fact, the whole thrust of the Los Angeles enterprise looked to the future. Just as Caesar did not look back to Alexander for his model of a Roman empire but anticipated as a model a kind of city-state existing in Rome’s own peripheries and provinces, so the leaders of an expanding Los Angeles looked to extend boundaries in order to create a new kind of city. What, after all, made this venture more reprehensible than those undertaken by other American cities that had gone distances to find water: New York to Croton, Boston to Lake Winnipesaukee, and San Francisco to the Tuolumne River in the Sierra Nevada mountain range? Who still rails against the New York Catskill project, which in its construction bought and drowned ten towns and villages, removed three thousand dead from thirty-two cemeteries, relocated eleven miles of rail track, and built ten highway bridges? Furthermore, the New York project was simply a water delivery system, while the Owens River project was to produce electrical energy as well, making it at the time not only a municipally owned utility but also one of the most valuable commercial enterprises in the United States.

SOURCES AND THE ROLE OF THE PRESS

Newspapers, the “diaries of history,” have been a rich source for the present work. Because the Los Angeles Times has outlived its former competitors, files of those defunct papers must now be sought in selected libraries where, in many cases, they exist only in incomplete runs. While the chief creators of the Times, General Harrison Gray Otis and Harry Chandler, enjoy enormous fame in the city’s history, few trails of glory follow Colonel J. J. Ayers, Major Horace Bell, Manchester Boddy, Edward Dickson, Edwin T. Earl, J. D. Lynch, and Benjamin C. Truman. Yet all once either owned, published, and/or edited successful and influential newspapers in Los Angeles with editorial slants that are sometimes today overlooked or forgotten. Especially among journalists and popular historians, this imbalance has led to an inflation of the roles of Otis and Chandler as city-makers out of all proportion to the facts. Without in any way minimizing these powerful men’s impact on the city’s history, I have tried to introduce other opinion-molders who played roles in building the City of Los Angeles.

One must keep alert, however, to journalist Mark Sullivan’s caveat that “a newspaper, as respects its fundamental character, is one of the least permanent of institutions … it can change ownership overnight,” and that “even though it remain in the same ownership, its character, point of view, and policy may be altered by a change in the owner’s interests, by his necessity for borrowing money, or otherwise” ( Our Times, vol. 2, pp. 228–29). A new editor, or even a change in the post of managing-editor, can switch the emphasis upon the coverage of certain subjects. Otis’s Times, for example, considered the leading booster for building the aqueduct and creating a municipal water system, became, under the later aegis of Harry Chandler, an implacable foe of the Boulder Dam project and the expansion of municipal power. Hearst’s Examiner also reversed itself, beginning as an editorial foe of the aqueduct and ending as its champion, as well as later supporting Boulder Dam and the municipal ownership of water and power.

Archival papers of civic leaders and engineers also proved helpful because they document many of the interconnections between business interests and the water story of Los Angeles. Mulholland’s friendship with Henry O’Melveny and Charles Dwight Willard was further demonstrated in their papers and journals, while those of political leaders John R. Haynes and Meyer Lissner augment the public record of their relationships during the rise of progressivism in Los Angeles and California.

ANOTHER VOICE ON THE SUBJECT

Biographies of engineers are scarce since they must deal with technical matters often beyond the ken of historian or biographer. Because the public and administrative life of an engineer tends to overshadow the private, it becomes the biographer’s duty to render that public side in vivid, yet accurate, style. Aside from memoirs written soon after his death by close associates (engineers J. B. Lippincott and Harvey Van Norman), the first attempt at a biography of William Mulholland was a monograph, William Mulholland: A Forgotten Forefather (1976), by Robert Matson. Written for a master’s degree at the University of the Pacific, it derives mostly from secondary materials and is only a partial account of the engineer’s life. Rivers in the Desert (1993), by Margaret Leslie Davis, purports to be a “major biography” but is not. Mulholland’s first fifty years remain unexplored, while accounts of his private and domestic life rely on hearsay and public records of marriage, divorce, and probate. Marred by many minor factual errors, the work demonstrates little depth of understanding about the complexity of the water story.

For background and information to supplement personal knowledge of the years when Mulholland was an anonymous figure in Los Angeles (1878–1904), I turned to city council proceedings, Department of Water and Power records, and reminiscences of Mulholland’s early employees and associates. Only scanty information remains from the years 1888 to 1902, when he headed the private water company that ran the city’s system. With records either lost or destroyed, the Times here proved valuable, as it provided the most detailed coverage of city council meetings during those years, when the official proceedings tended to be skeletal. Family scrapbooks, papers, and reminiscences were also useful, but especially helpful were Mulholland’s office files (1902–1928) from the Los Angeles Water Department, which only in recent years have been discovered, catalogued, and made available.

This work is not only a biography of William Mulholland but also an account of how a small pueblo in a semiarid basin was able to secure the water and power that allowed it to grow into a major city. It describes the many associates—some heroic, some not—who worked in this epic endeavor. Because the water story remains the founding myth of modern Los Angeles, this work also calls into question many current versions of the so-called Owens Valley controversy. Was there really rape and betrayal by the city’s leaders? Was the entire building of the Owens Valley Aqueduct the result of a conspiracy among Los Angeles capitalists to acquire water in order to develop for speculation their holdings in the San Fernando Valley? Who were the chief enemies of the city’s water seekers? Also discussed are the developments leading to the building of Boulder Dam and, finally, the major disaster of the Saint Francis Dam (1928), which ended Mulholland’s career.

The epigraph by Tacitus from Robert Graves’s I, Claudius underscores the problems inherent in telling this story, with which in a sense I have lived all my life and which even now may be disbelieved, so fixed in some minds is the certainty of what transpired that nothing would alter their opinion. As the subject’s granddaughter, my objectivity will be questioned. To answer that, I turn again to Tacitus, who almost two thousand years ago wrote of the profoundly divided opinions of those who were “bitterly alienated” by an event and those who were “deeply committed” to it: “But whereas the reader can easily discount the bias of the time-serving historian, detraction and spite find a ready audience. Adulation bears the ugly taint of subservience, but malice gives the false impression of being independent.” When the Chinese general Chou en Lai was asked in the 1950s what he thought had been the French Revolution’s impact on western Europe, he replied that it was too soon to tell. Without insisting on Chou’s long view, I would suggest that if there is to be a last word on this saga, it is yet to come. I also believe that diverse voices should continue to be heard, and I hope that mine will be among them.
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CHAPTER 1

The Long Journey from Dublin to Los Angeles

1855–1876

A NOTABLE LIFE

Of those civil servants who helped develop the modern metropolis of Los Angeles in the early twentieth century, the most prominent was William Mulholland (1855–1935). For over forty years spanning the administrations of nineteen mayors, Mulholland was a central force in the creation of a municipally owned water and power system that allowed a small, otiose western outpost to swell to outsized proportions. As a self-taught and inventive engineer, he became the creator of a project that ranked in magnitude and daring with the Panama Canal.

A pen-and-ink cartoon of Mulholland drawn in 1902, about the time the City of Los Angeles had at last regained control of its domestic water supply from the private company to which it had foolishly leased its pueblo water rights thirty years earlier, portrays a sturdy man in work clothes planted in front of a pump and water trough with two buckets labeled “City Water” at his feet. By then, Mulholland had worked for that private company for twenty-four years, having advanced from anonymous ditch tender in 1878 to superintendent of the works in 1886, a position he continued to hold under the new municipal management. “When the city bought back its water, it bought me too,” he later remarked. The authority of his stance and stern gaze leaves no doubt that he is indeed the keeper of the well, and at the height of his power and vigor, he was exactly that: the overseer and caretaker of water for Los Angeles. He brought fame (and some say ignominy) to the City of Los Angeles when, in 1913, as chief engineer of the great Owens River Aqueduct, he delivered to the city from 233 miles away its first abundant water supply. When the University of California at Berkeley honored him with an honorary doctorate degree the following year, the inscription on the diploma read, “Percussit saxa et duxit flumina ad terram sitientum” (He broke the rocks and brought the river to the thirsty land). Upon the aqueduct’s completion—after years of struggle and heroic labor to create this engineering marvel—Mulholland stood amidst the cheers of the crowd, and over the roar of the waters cascading down the spillway north of San Fernando, he uttered briefly and memorably, “There it is. Take it.”

Not only did that moment become legendary in the city’s modern history, but it also created a controversy that has never died. When Life magazine’s fall 1990 special issue included Mulholland among the one hundred people who had most influenced American history in the twentieth-century (“The engineer moved a river and made the desert bloom.”), a New York journalist was quick to snipe, in an amusing instance of East Coast parochialism, that Mulholland’s presence on the list seemed “a bit strained” and that it probably constituted “a sop to the hinterlands.”1

Mulholland was to live amid political conflict and controversy into his seventies. Then while he was actively planning and campaigning for the expansion of the city’s water supply from the Colorado River, a dam that he had approved failed and killed over four hundred people, thus drowning his career in the wake of the worst man-made disaster in California’s history.

This saga deserves renewed scrutiny, as in recent years the popular media, relying upon old rumors and hearsay, have increasingly presented this water story as a tabloid yarn of water thievery and crooked land deals. One fictional and melodramatic movie, Chinatown (1979), has come to be regarded by the uninformed as a kind of documentary work on the history of Los Angeles, while others who hold the city in disdain see the film as a clever parable on the greed and ambition of an upstart town. In a May 1, 1991, article on city water systems, the New York Times saw fit to cite Los Angeles as a horrible example of overexploitation of resources. To substantiate its case, the Times egregiously cited Chinatown as the work “which chronicles how the city seized control” of water to which it had no right.

Three years after Mulholland’s death, newspaperman John Russell McCarthy wrote of him, “He had little pity, much strength, great ambition. There is no one else in sight, past or present, whom Los Angeles is more likely to remember.” And so, loved or hated, Mulholland remains important to the history of Los Angeles and Southern California, his status recalling historian Carl Becker’s evaluation of Martin Luther: “The Protestant may love Luther, the Catholic may hate him, but they would agree that Luther is important for the Reformation.” Whether cherished or reviled, Mulholland endures at least as a potent figure in the history of his adopted city.2

A NOTE ON THE PRIVATE LIFE

William Mulholland was a fine-featured, handsome man, who, although a shade under six feet, always gave the impression of being taller because of his straight-backed, commanding presence and the penetrating gaze of his blue eyes. He had enormous energy, got by on little sleep, and remained vigorous until the Saint Francis Dam disaster eroded his spirit and health. His greatest assets—and doubtless a key to his success in public life—were a ready wit and an ability to get along with men.

Mulholland’s private life seldom impinged upon his public affairs. In 1890, at the age of thirty-five, he married Lillie Ferguson, then twentyone. They remained devoted and compatible until the home-loving and retiring Lillie died of cancer in 1915. She bore seven children, five of whom survived to adulthood. The oldest, Rose Ellen (1891–1977), kept house for her father until his death, and although his domestic life amid children, relatives, and in-laws was sometimes turbulent, it rarely distracted him from work. His second daughter, Lucile (1896–1968), expressed it best when asked about her father at the time of the aqueduct’s completion. “Father?” she laughed. “You mean that man who sometimes eats dinner with us.”

The city’s growth and change, which Mulholland had helped to create, also destroyed most of the landmarks of his private life. By the 1960s, his former family dwellings had disappeared, as had the ranch in the San Fernando Valley whose land he had purchased and which his oldest son, Perry (1892–1962), had cultivated. The Boyle Heights home at Sixth and Cummings, where the family had lived from 1894 to 1920, was bulldozed to make way for the Santa Ana Freeway, while his later home at 426 South Saint Andrews Place was razed for an apartment building. At the end of the twentieth century, the only habitation that remains is the house of his nineteenth-century childhood in Dublin, Ireland.

ORIGINS AND ANCESTORS

Mulholland was the second son of Hugh and Ellen (Deakers) Mulholland, born in Belfast, Ireland, on September 11, 1855. Although Mulholland’s parents were Dubliners, his father, a mail guard, was stationed in the north when the first three children were born: Thomas (1853) and William (1855) in Belfast, Hugh Patrick (1856) in Derry. By 1860, the family had settled permanently in Dublin, five years after the end of the Great Famine, which had left Ireland a dispirited and depleted land. Mulholland later displayed little nostalgia for his native land, and when asked at the height of his career if he would not like to take a trip back to the old country, he snapped that he never wanted to see the “damned island” again.

His parents were of the newly emerging Catholic lower middle class, which had been pushed off the tenant farms of their ancestors and crowded into the cities. Since the early eighteenth century, Mulhollands had lived in northeastern Ireland, midway between Belfast and Dublin in Counties Meath and Louth, tenant farmers on the vast lands of the viscount Massarene. William’s grandfather Patrick Mulholland had been born in 1798, the year of the French invasion of Ireland; his father, Hugh, born in 1827, came into the world during the first of the horrific famines that afflicted Ireland for the next forty years.3

Because an Irishman then was allowed to vote only if he had twenty acres, and because Patrick, a farmer in Colinbeg, had ended up through inheritance with only seven acres and a house, he and his sons were disenfranchised. Hugh, as the seventh and youngest son of a man who owned only seven acres, was at best without great expectations, and therefore had to cast about for a means of survival. Lord Massarene required his tenants to serve in the militia (Home Guard), and if a young man demonstrated ability and dependability he could advance to the position of a guard on the coaches that Massarene ran between Derry and Dublin. By this process, Hugh Mulholland worked his way into a position as a mail guard with the Royal British Mail. As there was no civil service until 1855, the only way to attain such employment was by nomination. Once nominated, one was assured of serving for the rest of one’s life.

In his later public life, William Mulholland tended to couch his father’s employment in general terms: “connected with the Government mail,” he would say, as if he perceived something infra dig about his father’s work. Yet in those desperate days in Ireland, a guard job with the Royal Mail would have been a coveted post that offered a good living and some prestige, the term royal being not meaningless in Victorian Ireland. Long waiting lists were customary for this position, which demanded that a man be under thirty years of age and that he must pass a test on the three R’s. That Hugh qualified for such a post also indicates his literacy, which was not to be assumed in his era, when 47 percent of persons ages five and up in Ireland could neither read nor write.4

A famous superintendent of mail coaches, Thomas Hasker, kept a voluminous record of his career and was said to have loved his guards as a great commander loves his soldiers; indeed, in the entire development of the Royal Mail service, the key men were the mail guards. “Everything depended on their integrity,” Hasker wrote, “their loyalty, their tireless zeal in the discharge of their very arduous duties, their hardihood of body as well as of mind.” These same admirable qualities that enabled Hugh Mulholland to survive and prosper in Victorian Ireland also produced in him a rectitude and hardness of character that ultimately drove two of his sons a world away. Cherchez le pére may well be the watch-word for the character of William Mulholland, as an interesting parallel suggests itself between a father and son who each, in different times and worlds apart, demonstrated similar abilities and behaviors as trusted employees of public agencies.5

In old age, Mulholland told certain questioners that he had no recollection of his mother, who had died when he was seven, but to his children he sometimes spoke of her, remembering that her wit, lively nature, and love of song had been an antidote to his father’s grim seriousness. A monument to this bright-spirited young woman stands in Glasnevin, the famous Dublin Catholic cemetery built under the direction of the great emancipator, Daniel O’Connell, and immortalized by James Joyce in the Hades episode of Ulysses. Inscribed on the granite stele are the words “Erected by Hugh Mulholland in memory of his beloved wife—Ellen. Aged 28 years who died 18th September, 1862.” Grave records further reveal that also buried in the plot with her are two infant daughters, six other members of the extended family, and later, Hugh.

Ellen Deakers had been to America as a girl before she returned to Ireland to marry Hugh Mulholland. Family lore has it that she grew so homesick for Ireland (and Hugh) that her father allowed her to return. Although no record has been found, their marriage occurred sometime between 1850 and 1852. Ellen’s brother, Richard Deakers, Jr., however, remained in America and prospered in his father’s draper’s business in Pittsburgh during and after the Civil War. Because of Richard, two of Ellen’s sons, William and Hugh Patrick Mulholland, would one day find their way to Pittsburgh and ultimately to California.

A DUBLIN BOYHOOD

Willie Mulholland grew up in postfamine Victorian Dublin, a dispirited, shabby provincial capital, notorious for its slums, drinking, wenching, and political and religious contentions. Yet in this benighted place, within a few miles of each other, grew three little boys, all destined to become remarkable men. The most privileged, and one year older than young Mulholland, was Oscar Wilde, who lived in central Dublin on upper-class Merrion Square with parents who were both stars in the Anglo-Irish social firmament: his father, a prominent physician, and his mother, a poet and keeper of a literary salon. In a meaner part of town in a rented house on Synge Street, with a drunken father who made life seem hopeless for his stoic wife and their three small children, dwelled the youngest of the three (a year younger than Willie), George Bernard Shaw, enduring what he later called his “devil of a childhood.” The coincidence of the three not only illustrates that talent can arise anywhere but also suggests that the Dublin environment, for all its shabbiness, was vibrant. Throughout the starving years, although Ireland’s population declined by 20 percent, Dublin’s increased by 9 percent, with 250,000 people living in the city proper and another 50,000 better-off inhabitants in the suburbs. (Dublin’s growth was the result of rural depopulation as tenants of small holdings were forced off the land; farms from one to five acres declined from 182,000 in 1845 to 62,000 in 1910.)6

Sickness and death pervaded Willie Mulholland’s childhood home. Consumption took two baby girls and then Ellen herself shortly after the birth of a sixth child, leaving Hugh, at thirty-three, a widower with four motherless boys, the youngest an infant of a few months and the oldest not yet ten. The impact of these losses upon the seven-year-old Willie is unknowable. On the evidence, he must simply have repressed much of what he felt and turned to his brothers and schoolmates for whatever companionship and warmth they could offer. His propensity for male friendships must have derived from that time when he lost the women of his family and, given the male-dominated Victorian world he lived in, perhaps concluded that it was safer to invest his time in those who did not seem to go under so easily.

At the time of their mother’s death, the oldest boys, Thomas and Willie, were in their second year at the O’Connell School run by the Christian Brothers on North Richmond Street, only a short walk from their home. Today the Christian Brothers Schools are honored for playing a leading role in the Irish Revival and are recognized for providing elite training to the urban poor of nineteenth-century Ireland. A chief justice of Ireland who attended during the same years as the Mulholland boys later wrote that “the school course contained comparatively few subjects, but they were well and efficiently taught.” Willie left the O’Connell School before completing the full course of instruction, but while there he worked through three readers, four levels of grammar, four of geography, and being most advanced in arithmetic, had achieved six levels by the time he left the school.7 The reasons for his leaving are not clear and are certainly murkier than those of James Joyce, who, a generation later, attended the same school—and was ashamed to admit it—as his devotion to the Jesuits was so powerful that he considered the Christian Brothers mere drones by comparison. “Paddy Stink and Mickey Mud,” his class-conscious father, John Joyce, had dubbed two teachers there. Willie’s chief memory (at least, the one he chose to tell his own children) was of the day, when almost ten, he joined his schoolmates at a special school assembly and heard the father superior tell them that a terrible tragedy had just befallen the world. In America, President Abraham Lincoln had been assassinated and they must all bow heads and pray for his soul.

Of greater immediate impact on young Willie than Lincoln’s death, however, was the arrival of a stepmother. In 1865, after three years as a widower, thirty-six-year-old Hugh married Jane Smith, aged thirty, in Drogheda, where her sisters lived, wives of sea captains. By all accounts, Jane Smith tried to be a good mother to her stepsons, but as she herself was pregnant the next year with her first child (a daughter, Mary, born in 1867), followed by two sons (Joseph, 1869, and Michael, 1871), her attention never could have been fully focused upon the lively older boys, who were out of the house at school during the day and accustomed to a degree of independence. Tom, the oldest, eventually became a conforming son who followed his father into the postal service and at the time of his death from consumption at thirty-eight in 1891 was still unmarried and living at home with his widowed stepmother. Willie and Hugh Patrick, however, were another story. Only eleven months apart, they were almost like twins in their closeness, although family members who recalled them in later years always spoke of Willie as if he were much older and more dominating than Hugh. Described as “a pair of Dublin jackeens”—city kids who ran the streets with their buddies—they became the rebels of the family. At fourteen, Willie ran off to sea for the first time after a severe beating from his father because of bad marks at school (by then he probably was attending a national school, although all records are lost). He returned home and after a brief period of study entered the British Merchant Marine at fifteen. The following year, the father enrolled Hugh Patrick, then also fifteen, into the British Navy.

FOUR YEARS BEFORE THE MAST AND WESTWARD HO!

Although much of Dublin in the 1860s was decrepit, life on the water-front was energetic and vital, with its port being developed into one of the best-run harbors in Europe. Between 1860 and 1914, over 38 million tons of debris were dredged from the Liffey, while docks, berths, and the new Alexandra Basin were added to the existing facilities. Irishmen such as John Wigham were pioneers in introducing gaslight to light-houses and illuminating buoys. The famous Bailey light with its 9,000 candlepower, revolving lens, and gaslight that produced flashes in groups became the model on all the world’s coasts. These matters, rather than Latin declensions or the Celtic Revival, were what excited the imagination of Willie Mulholland. Although surrounded by political tension and unrest (the 1860s saw the rise of the Sinn Fein movement), he dreamed of neither academic achievement nor Irish independence but rather of going to sea at a moment in the nineteenth century when, with the supremacy and protection of the Royal Navy, Britain possessed the largest merchant fleet in the world.8

After four years at sea, Willie would later enliven many a night circle in California construction camps and in the high Sierras with his tales of seafaring days on a three-masted, full-rigged merchantman, the Gleniffer. Those yarns have vanished with the smoke of the long-dead campfires, and only meager accounts remain of his nineteen Atlantic crossings to various ports in North America and the West Indies and his eventual promotion to navigating officer of the vessel.9

Life at sea initially must have suited the young and enthusiastic Mulholland. Freed from the strictures of family, church, and a crowded house-hold, he did not find the cramped confines of ship life as punishing as might a youth from a more solitary or privileged environment. By now, he had developed a propensity for inner solitude that he would retain for the rest of his life. Long before Joyce had articulated his youthful intention of employing “silence, exile, and cunning,” Willie Mulholland, without saying so, had pursued such a course. He retained a lifelong love of the sea but at the end of four years concluded the sailor’s life “would get him nowhere in a material way.” After sailing into New York City on June 9, 1874, Willie returned to shore with a sense of pride in having survived the nautical experience and in having deepened his understanding of life and men amid the motley crews of the fo’c’sle.

In his first summer in America, Willie found work on a vessel in the Great Lakes and later cherished the memory of its Irish captain, who noticed him on deck one night as he stood at the rail and whistled a tune. Remarking that he had not heard that air since leaving Ireland, the captain made friendly talk with his young crewman, who would always remember how the encounter had eased his loneliness in a strange land.

In the winter of 1874–75, Mulholland worked in a lumber camp in Manistee, Michigan, where a logging accident altered his life and left him permanently appalled by the reckless deforestation he had witnessed. The mishap landed him in a camp hospital with an injured leg that developed erysipelas (a streptococcal infection). From his bed, he overheard doctors mention gangrene and the probable need to amputate the limb, so he bolted and somehow made his way to Cincinnati. There, at the age of twenty, weak and barely alive from his recent illness, having only a few dollars left and too proud to let any of his family know of his plight, he reached the lowest point of his young life. “Why bother?” he wondered. Ahead he saw nothing but endless years of grinding work with no reward. As he wandered the streets in this hopeless state, he suddenly heard a choir of clear-voiced boy sopranos singing the Gloria in Excelsis in a nearby church and felt a surge of hope and renewed courage. He entered the church and spent an hour in prayer and meditation as the suicidal mood passed and his zest for life returned.

Willie next became attached to an itinerant mechanic with a team, who drove through the country sharpening scissors and repairing clocks. He later told his daughter, Rose, that he grew so fond of the gypsy life that he had to force himself to give it up and follow the urge to do something worthwhile with his life.

During Willie’s Wanderjahr, Hugh Patrick, having learned that his brother had left the sea, followed suit and upon reaching American shores jumped ship. As one of the family later explained his desertion from the British Navy, “Hugh got over into some American port, and he ejected himself.” Somehow the brothers found each other and made their way to the Pittsburgh home of their American uncle, Richard Deakers, who never forgot the day in the autumn of 1875 when Willie and Hugh “just showed up on the doorstep.”

The Mulholland boys had landed on a prosperous threshold, for the Deakers family in all ways qualified as “lace curtain Irish,” living as they did in the Hazelwood section of Pittsburgh in a pleasant home with a cook and servants. Uncle Richard was well established as a Pittsburgh dry goods merchant and husband of Catherine Thorpe, a native of Ireland, who, by all accounts, was the abiding genius of the family business. Her few surviving letters indicate that she was a highly competent lady concerned with maintaining order, proprieties, and good appearances. Devout Catholics, she and Richard had eight children, and they now charitably welcomed their two stray nephews from Ireland.

For almost two years, cousins Willie and Hugh stayed at the Deakers home and worked at their uncle’s dry goods store. Events took an ominous turn, however, when another relative remembered only as “Uncle Hobson” showed up on the Deakers doorstep carrying tuberculosis. Soon some of the Deakers children were presenting symptoms of the disease, and by 1875 two had died. As three of Catherine’s brothers had been ranching in San Diego County since 1868, the family made the wrenching decision to leave the city where they were so well established and join the throng of health-seekers who had begun crowding into certain areas of California to the extent that historian Hubert Howe Bancroft worried that they had introduced a weakness into “our exceptionally youthful and hardy community by an increasing proportion of delicate women and children.”10

The journey was a disaster. While Richard stayed behind to close business, the other Deakerses followed medical advice that the Panama or Horn routes were best during the cold months and booked passage on a large, three-decked vessel, the Crescent City of Liverpool, which sailed out of New York Harbor on December 9, 1876. Its passengers included not only Catherine Deakers, her six surviving children, and Uncle Hobson, but two stowaways, Willie and Hugh Mulholland. Shortly before reaching Colón, however, the pair were caught and dumped at the Isthmus of Panama. Probably because they lacked the twenty-five dollars in gold to pay for the train ride to Balboa, they were forced to hike the forty-seven miles across the isthmus. (As an old man Mulholland rather grandly glossed this over, once declaring, “I would walk that far today to make twenty-five dollars.”) Once on the west side, they signed on to a Peruvian man-of-war headed for Acapulco. From there they found another ship that took them to San Francisco. Ashore, they bought two horses and made their way southward to find the Deakers family in Los Angeles.

When at last they reached the pueblo, they learned that the voyage had continued to be ill-fated for their Aunt Catherine. Two more of her children, already weak with consumption, contracted typhoid and died on shipboard. When the ship from Panama had finally made port at Santa Monica, one of the younger Deakers children, fourteen-year-old Ella, looked about, caught her first glimpse of Los Angeles, and was aghast. It was, she later said, a place “where nothing looked like anything.”


CHAPTER 2

The City of Angels

1877

A PUEBLO OF 9,000 SOULS

Ella Deakers was not the first to find Los Angeles unprepossessing. “A queer little Spanish town,” young author Margaret Collier Graham reported to her parents in Keokuk, Iowa, shortly after she arrived in Los Angeles in 1876 with her consumptive husband. “There is not much to say of this wonderful city of the Angels,” she wrote. “We have been walking around nearly all day through the narrow streets full of strange Spanish and Chinese faces, passing long rows of low adobe houses swarming with dusky children and reeking with foreign odors.” Yet beyond the “squalor and nastiness,” she also saw “groves of green trees, orange, fig, walnut, and acres of grape vines.”1

What greeted the Mulholland brothers when they rode into town in January 1877, in addition to depression, drought, and their relatives’ straitened circumstances, was a settlement in the grip of a smallpox epidemic. By February 9, fifty-three cases had been reported, the majority in the “Spanish quarter,” where resistance to receiving the new Jenner vaccine was high. The editor of the Los Angeles Daily Star called for the ouster of the city’s health officer, charging incompetence, while also offering readers such health tips as the claim that because Jews did not eat pork, they were less subject to bilious attacks and, therefore, less apt to suffer from smallpox. By May, after the city had spent $21,000 to fight the disease, including funds for the Sisters of Charity to maintain one of the pest houses, the epidemic subsided.2

Willie and Hugh had arrived in Southern California at the end of its first thirty years of American rule, as the Anglos gained dominion over the Spanish-Mexican colonizers and landholders. Only five months earlier, in September 1876, the Southern Pacific Railroad had connected Los Angeles from the north to the rest of the world. With the arrival of the railroad, Major Horace Bell, old-time scout, soldier, and owner-editor of the caustic Porcupine, had anticipated a new civility after the preceding lawless years’ culmination in the ghastly 1871 Chinese Massacre in Nigger Alley, during which Chinatown was sacked, many were shot, and twenty Chinese hanged. When western correspondent J. Ross Browne wrote in Harper’s Weekly about a visit to Los Angeles in the 1860s, he had described the social tone as one in which men discussed manhunting as a sporting activity: “Why, you would sit at the breakfast table of the Queen of the Angels and hear the question of going out to shoot men as commonly discussed as would be duck shooting in any other country. At dinner the question would be, ‘Well, how many did they shoot today? Who was hanged?’” As Major Bell later observed, “It was barbarism gone to seed. The decent minority—for there was such a group of nonentities—wondered when and where it would all end.” He fervently believed that “the day the whistle of the first S. P. locomotive was heard in Los Angeles, civilization started on the upgrade.”3

Even with the railroad, however, Los Angeles was not much in the 1870s. Its population was 9,000, and its biggest local excitement one January day featured a bucking bronco from the Wells Fargo office at First and Spring that, after breaking the tongue on an old rattletrap wagon parked near the courthouse steps, proceeded to kick the vehicle to smithereens. As a crowd collected to watch, a local reporter noted, “it was the most fun for the boys since Christmas.” The city council was spending its best efforts on a long debate over the need to drain the frog pond at Second and Olive. Because of the current drought, the streets were being sprinkled at night, so that when the council, which sat in night sessions, complained of the noise and nuisance, one editor noted that it was because “the rumble of carts disturbs the sleep of our councilmen, who can sit longer and talk more than any municipal body in the U. S., for they do not believe that brevity is the soul of wit.”4

With relish and colorful rhetoric newsmen chronicled the day, paying special attention to crime and punishment. Stealing a ham could earn a man thirty days on the chain gang, as could chronic public drunkenness (“afflicted with intemperance” was one description). Red-light houses abounded, and their occupants were variously described as ladies of the night, nymphs of the pavement, or when a more genteel or discreet tone seemed indicated, nymphes du pave.

The mention of water—or lack of it—was frequent, and fire was always a menace. A house at Twelfth and Olive burned down because no water was in reach for the fire wagon. Brush fires and smoke in the San Gabriel and Cahuenga foothills were not uncommon summer sights, and in September 1878, a fire on the Kester Ranch (part of present-day Van Nuys) in the San Fernando Valley burned between two and three thousand acres of wheat.

Los Angeles’s heterogeneous nature was already apparent. A Chinese funeral—CELESTIAL FUNERAL EXTRAORDINARY—caused one reporter to muse in cross-cultural allusions, “A Chinese High Muck-a-Muck Speeded Across the River Styx—The Dead March in Saul Struggling with the Cacophony of a Chinese Band.” The pueblo celebrated Mexican independence with a parade and grand ball attended by Carrillos and del Valles at about the same time that General John Charles Frémont was in town on his way to Arizona and General William Tecumseh Sherman made a station stop on the train en route to San Francisco. Dominating these picturesque groups, however, was a rising class of Anglo-Yankee settlers and entrepreneurs bent on bringing into the American mainstream this town sometimes derisively referred to as the Queen of the Cow Counties. They believed in progress, and a new technology always excited their interest, as when a leading local citizen, L. M. Holt, purchased a model of Mr. Edison’s latest invention, the phonograph, and invited friends to the Odd Fellows hall for a public demonstration. There, grown men sang such ditties as “Mary Had a Little Lamb” into a mouthpiece and produced a cylinder that afterwards could be played back, reproducing the sound of their voices to the wonderment and delight of all.5

This jumble of types and styles, mingling visions of the future with a touch of the romantic past, appealed to young men of ambition and dreams. Mulholland was attracted to the local lore of the pueblo; the tales of the notorious bandido Tiburcio Vasquez, who had been captured only two years before; and the exotic intrigues of Chinatown, with its opium dens and gambling parlors presided over by the mysterious men with queues. In spite of the troubled times, Los Angeles’s overall mood was optimistic, as newspapers expressed the boosterism of a small town straining for a grander destiny. In a few years that boosterism would materialize in Los Angeles’s first great land boom.

FIRST DAYS IN A WESTERN OUTPOST

As an old man, Mulholland remembered the pueblo with affection. It was “so attractive to me that it at once became something about which my whole scheme of life was woven, I loved it so much.” But he probably came closer to the mark years earlier, in 1907, when he told a reporter, “After a month ashore I decided I had enough, and so started for San Pedro to find a ship. On the way down there a man who was driving a well offered me a job and I took it.” The man who stopped the decamping Mulholland was Manuel Dominguez, grandson of the original grantee to Rancho San Pedro, one of the great Spanish land grants. Hired to dig artesian wells with a hand drill near the recently founded town of Compton, Mulholland later claimed that “the first well I helped to drive changed the whole course of my life. When we were about six hundred feet down we struck a tree. A little further down we brought up some fossils. These things fired my curiosity. I wanted to know how they got there and so I got hold of Joseph LeConte’s book on the geology of this country. Right there I decided to become an engineer.”

First, however, William and his brother Hugh went gold-seeking in Arizona Territory. Ignoring all reports of Indian uprisings in 1877–78 and amid rising hostility among the southern Arizona Apaches under Victorio and Geronimo, the two Irish greenhorns traveled to Ehrenberg, northeast of Yuma, where placer finds had been reported. To raise money for purchasing outfits, they found casual employment on the steamboats along the Colorado River, thus introducing Mulholland to the river that would one day figure so large in his history. In the midst of their unrewarded efforts, United States troops rode through Ehrenberg warning that Geronimo might be on the warpath. Needing no further encouragement, the two hightailed it back to Los Angeles. Years later, Mulholland told a reporter, “I went to Arizona prospecting—a very dangerous business at the time. There were a great many hostile Indians about … it was one of those cases where presence of mind was best secured by absence of body.”6

LEARNING THE WATER BUSINESS

During his apprentice years, Mulholland became familiar with the various water projects that had been undertaken in Los Angeles over the twenty years before his arrival. Today near the plaza at the north end of Olvera Street lies a line of diagonally set brick that marks the old water course of the Zanja Madre (Mother Ditch) that made life possible in the early pueblo. Surrounded now by paved streets crowded with automobiles and draped overhead with power lines that clutter the often smoggy skyline, the original town center struggles to survive as a last vestige of the Spanish-Mexican days, and a seeker must negotiate crowded aisles of curio booths and candle shops in order to look down on the spot where precious water once flowed from the Los Angeles River. To find the source of the Zanja Madre’s water, however, one must leave Olvera Street and go north past New Chinatown along North Broadway to the freight yards of the Southern Pacific Railroad Company. There, east of the rail yard, lies the Los Angeles River, today a concrete flood channel but once a stream that Mulholland called “the most valuable asset of the municipality.”7

The Spanish crown had granted the pueblo ownership and control of its water, and one of the first tasks of the original settlers (los pobladores) in 1781 had been to create the Zanja Madre with communal labor for both domestic use and irrigation. Although by the end of the nineteenth century, most of the zanjas had been moved underground, in earlier times, they had been an integral part of the landscape. John S. Hittell described them in The Resources of California (1863): “most of them have a body of water three feet wide and a foot deep running at a speed of five miles per hour. They carry water from the river to the gardens and are absolutely necessary to secure the growth of the vines and the many fruit trees.” By the time Mulholland arrived, nine tributary zanjas flowed from the Mother Ditch to provide irrigation water to various districts of the city, while a private water company controlled water for domestic use. Although both irrigation and domestic uses drew their water from a common source—the Los Angeles River—their histories are intertwined but distinct.8

The zanjas—a distinctive and picturesque feature of the old pueblo often rhapsodized by travel writers who hearkened back to biblical images of oases in the desert—eventually outlived their usefulness in an expanding urban scene. By the opening years of the twentieth century, when the city had over 100,000 inhabitants, the zanjas, after 121 years of service, had nearly all been covered, piped, and converted to city water mains. Thus, early in his tenure as the city’s water superintendent, William Mulholland reported to the board of water commissioners in 1903 that “the zanja system has made its usual poor showing for the year.” Citing receipts of $5,809.75 and expenditures for upkeep of $8,537.15, he recommended abandoning the system, which was done in the following year.

In the Spanish-Mexican era, water-tending had always been a municipal effort, with each family at first making a communal contribution of labor. As the settlement grew, however, local government took over its management to assure an adequate water supply for both domestic use and the irrigation of crops in the semiarid land. The zanjero (water steward) was to become as important a figure as the alcalde (mayor). Although the Americans introduced their form of municipal government with mayor and city council, they retained the Spanish-Mexican practice of appointing a zanjero just as the ayuntamiento had done. (Zanjero was officially anglicized to water overseer in 1881.) Americans quickly demonstrated their capitalistic tendencies with various attempts to gain ownership of the city’s water supply, along with its land. Major Horace Bell, who cast a sardonic eye on life in the pueblo in those transitional years of the 1850s and 1860s, described a convenient arrangement whereby the mayor and the council, after granting a contract in currency for excavating a ditch to expand the growing town’s water system, would in reality pay the contractor with municipal acreage. In his gratitude, the contractor would then kick back a fraction thereof to the mayor and each member of the council. So flagrant was this practice that at one city council hearing, George Hansen—a civil engineer and pioneer of 1850, then serving as county surveyor—hung up for study certain tract maps, across each of which he had boldly inscribed with red ink, “This tract stolen when B—was mayor”; “This tract stolen when C—was mayor”; and finally on the largest of all, encompassing thousands of acres, he named the current mayor: “This tract stolen when Joel H. Turner was mayor.”9

In the first years of American occupation and up to 1868, several private ventures into the management and distribution of domestic water were attempted and failed. Most conspicuous and ambitious were those of Prudent Beaudry, who, along with partners Dr. John Griffin and Solomon Lazard, in March 1868 helped finance the new Canal and Reservoir Company, which was to advance his real estate dreams. Beaudry, once described as prim and Napoleonic, was a French Canadian from Quebec, reputed to have made and lost several fortunes. He had been in San Francisco during the Gold Rush and came to Los Angeles in the 1850s. After prospering with his brother, Victor, as a smelter in the silver strike at Cerro Gordo, Beaudry bought quantities of real estate to subdivide and develop, as he envisioned hillside homes on the dry empty hills north and northwest of the city. He called his arid tract Bellevue Terrace, and he prevailed upon the city to grant additional land for building a dam in the barren chaparral hills west and northwest of Figueroa on the site of today’s Echo Park.

Until then the city’s water systems had involved only the central district around the plaza and along the river to the south, much of which was really river bottomland. Beaudry’s new dam would allow the city to grow westward, an idea that many of the old-time conservative residents found farfetched, but to which the “intrepid Beaudry,” as one of his associates called him, gave his full support. Thus, Beaudry became the power behind the Los Angeles Canal and Reservoir Company, to which the city granted a portion of land on March 23, 1868.

The president of the new Canal and Reservoir Company was the engineer and former county surveyor George Hansen. His previously mentioned sarcasm notwithstanding, Hansen was considered a man of integrity as well as an able engineer. The company bought the old Feliz Ditch and the water rights of the Feliz Rancho, which took its water from the Los Angeles River about six miles northwest of the city. The company planned to improve and widen the ditch and then run the water by creating a canyon through the hill by either a cut or tunnel so that the flow would debouch onto the plain and thence into a dam of stone concrete. The course followed along what is today Glendale Boulevard, cut through where Silver Lake Reservoir now stands, and from there emptied into a dam at the site of present-day Echo Park. This dam, also called Reservoir No. 4, had an extension ditch down to approximately where the Bonaventure Hotel stands today at Fifth and Figueroa. Because the water dropped 78 feet from the dam to the ditch, the Barnard brothers, who had been brick makers, conceived the idea of building a wool mill on the site to take advantage of the power and thus created the first industrial manufacturing plant in the City of Los Angeles.

Having successfully made one water deal with the city, Beaudry, Griffin, and Lazard nearly succeeded in wresting away all rights from the municipality when they proposed to the city council a complicated fifty-year lease that in reality would have resulted in the eventual sale of the waterworks and the stripping of the city’s right or authority to fix or control water rates. At that time the sentiment against municipal ownership ran strong in the city council. One member argued, “Cities and towns can never manage enterprises of that nature as economically as individuals can, and besides, it is a continual source of annoyance and is made a political hobby.” After a tie vote, the president of the council broke the deadlock with his vote favoring the lease. Mayor Don Cristobal Aguilar vetoed the ordinance, however, for he was a native Californian who knew what the water would always mean to the city. Although his veto saved the city’s water rights, it did not end the matter, for the trio came back with a proposition for a thirty-year lease at $1,500 a year. This new proposition still included promises to fulfill such conditions of the earlier scheme as installing hydrants at downtown street crossings, providing free water in the city’s public buildings, and constructing in the plaza an ornamental fountain that was to cost not less than $1,000.10

Although other interested parties offered proposals, the council was stacked in favor of the trio and committed what Mulholland would later call an act of “civil idiocy” by railroading through the infamous thirty-year lease. Charges of favoritism and political pull flew as two members of the city council who voted for the lease, William H. Perry and A. J. King, soon became members of the water company’s board of trustees, formed immediately after the lease was secured. Griffin, Lazard, and Beaudry now incorporated this new entity, which would control the city’s domestic water supply under the name of the Los Angeles City Water Company. For this plum, they paid the bargain rent of $1,500 a year, while the politicians who had signed away their city’s water rights for the next third of a century congratulated themselves on having exorcised the specter of municipal ownership. Only Mayor Aguilar mitigated the situation by insisting, before reluctantly signing the agreement, that the mayor and the council would retain the right to regulate water rates. Thus the city was not stripped entirely of its power to manage its most vital resource, although the wrangle with the company over rates became an annual council event.

The lease ultimately proved a cheat to the city, for as the private company prospered and the value of its resource grew more precious, services did not always increase accordingly and the works fell into “a woefully inefficient condition,” remembered Mulholland, who also recalled the politicking that resulted as each side manipulated for an advantage. “The fat earnings also proved an attractive lure to the politicians who promptly invoked the power delegated to municipal legislative bodies by the constitution of 1879 to regulate rates. This power was freely used to extort all sorts of contributions from the Company to the last year of its existence.”11

Within two years of obtaining the lease, the company had maneuvered the city into a rent reduction so that for the next three decades it paid $400 a year, or a little over $33 a month, for all the water it wanted from the Los Angeles River. This absurdity came about when, after waiting two years for the company to fulfill its side of the bargain and remove an abandoned reservoir from the plaza and build the long-awaited fountain, the council got up enough ginger to request that the work be done pronto, only to be unpleasantly answered by the company’s attorney with a threat of lawsuit if the city persisted in its demands. Cowed, the council supinely agreed to reduce the annual rent to $400 a year if the company would deliver on its promise. Happy in its windfall, the company at last tore down the old brick reservoir, landscaped the plaza, and erected the long-promised fountain.12

The water company next built the Buena Vista Reservoir with a 378- foot elevation to replace an earlier one northeast of the Catholic cemetery and in 1875 set out to improve the system by laying a twenty-twoinch iron main from a point near the Buena Vista Bridge down to Main and First Streets. The partners also pursued independent projects. Griffin and his partner, John Downey, a former governor of California and now president of the Los Angeles Water Company, expanded the domestic water service on their tract in East Los Angeles (today, Lincoln Heights). Meanwhile, the tireless Prudent Beaudry continued to develop his hill lands to the west at his own expense, grading and installing streets, laying lines, pumping water and building two reservoirs, for which he was said to have spent the then staggering sum of $95,000.13

When Beaudry became mayor of Los Angeles in 1875, he remained determined to see his hillside developments succeed. Undaunted by drought and depression, he proclaimed with the voice of the ultimate booster, “I intend to spend money and keep on spending money in improvements and grading streets until this locality meets the attention it deserves, and it will not be long, I assure you.” He then built another, even larger reservoir with a 5-million-gallon capacity on Angelino Heights. Also called Beaudry’s High Reservoir, it was a basin excavated in solid rock with an elevation of 596 feet. This completed the series of reservoirs built for the various water systems in place when William Mulholland took his first job with the Los Angeles Water Company in the spring of 1878.14


CHAPTER 3

The Private Water Company and Its Owners

1878–1879

THE IRISH APPRENTICE

When William Mulholland began his job with the Los Angeles Water Company as a deputy zanjero, he tended the main supply ditch from Crystal Springs, then the chief source of the city’s domestic water supply. Paid $1.50 a day and housed in what he once described as “a shack near the Old Sycamore Tree” (the latter then a historic landmark in early deeds and records), he settled in for two years of work and study that were to lead to his career as a hydraulic engineer. The locale remained important to him. Visiting as an old man over fifty years later (after the Saint Francis Dam disaster had ended his career), he pointed out a sturdy oak to a young woman then writing a graduate thesis on the domestic water system of Los Angeles. After telling her how he had rescued it as a tiny three-inch seedling about to fall into the ditch he was digging, he approached and, apparently moved by the memory of that life-affirming act, reached out, “touched it lovingly and looking at it, said half to himself, ‘I saved its life once. I wonder if it is conscious of my presence today?’” The old Chief’s closest friends and associates later acknowledged his affinity for the place when they chose it as the appropriate site for the William Mulholland Memorial Fountain, erected in his honor by the City of Los Angeles in 1940 and restored and rededicated in 1996.1

In that shack by the river, he had, for the first time in his life, a place of his own. There, after a day of clearing brush and debris, removing dead animals from the stream, and keeping the flow in proper channels,  he began the studies that ultimately led to his fame as a hydraulic engineer. Although the nearby Los Angeles River was no mighty stream such as one associates with great cities, it was, as Mulholland remembered affectionately, “a beautiful limpid little stream with willows on its banks.” Originating in the western foothills of the San Fernando Valley thirty miles from the plaza and fed by the waters of the Tujunga Wash, its watershed covered about 500 square miles, and without it no city ever would have arisen.

Mulholland worked between the west bank of the river and the canal owned by the water company. The river supplied irrigation water to the zanjas and so came under the control of the city zanjero, while the channel, or main supply ditch, fed the city’s domestic water system and belonged to the private company. Thus, the two groups of workers under different jurisdictions inevitably came together, sometimes in harmony but often in conflict. Although the waters of the main supply ditch flowed from Crystal Springs, contention over their source led to a great conflict between the city and the water company after the company contended that the city could not claim the springs, as they did not arise from the Los Angeles River. The controversy and legal arguments over Crystal Springs grew labyrinthine through the years and culminated in a memorable 1898 court case that concluded in the city’s favor.

Crystal Springs was on the Los Feliz Rancho, six or seven miles north-west of the city’s plaza. Today commemorated by Crystal Springs Drive, which runs through the golfing grounds of Griffith Park, the property had been purchased by the Los Angeles Water Company from the Feliz estate in 1868, after it had secured its thirty-year lease from the city. Formerly called the Feliz Springs, it was a marshy tract of slightly over fourteen acres south of an elbow bend where the Los Angeles River begins its southerly course through the city towards the sea. Judge Benjamin Eaton (brother-in-law of Dr. John Griffin), who earlier had superintended construction when the Canal and Reservoir Company bought the old Feliz Ditch and the water rights of the Feliz Rancho, once testified in court that the springs then “consisted of a body of water surrounded by tules” that trickled down to the river. After paying $8,000 for the property and christening it Crystal Springs, the new owners formed an auxiliary company called Crystal Springs Land and Water Company. They promptly declared it private, not city, property and proceeded to build a canal to carry water to a ravine in today’s Elysian Park, where they built the Buena Vista Dam in 1868–1869.2

By July 1878, only months after Mulholland had been on his new job, a deputy zanjero was assigned to guard the river because parties were stealing water on the Feliz Ranch. By October, the city received a favorable judgment in the state supreme court, which ruled against the removal of water from the Los Angeles River by Leon Baldwin, the first American owner of the Feliz lands. This did not end the problem, however, for in the summer of 1879, Mulholland’s second year on the river, the city council’s zanja committee toured up the river and discovered three heads of water in use on the Feliz Rancho and three more on the Corralitos lands of Andrew Glassell, owner of a part of Rancho San Rafael on the river’s east bank. (A head was in theory one hundred miner’s inches, but because a miner’s inch varies according to local agreement, Mulholland once archly described a head of water as all that the user could manage to take.) The city ran the water back into the river and placed guards on the ditches, but the guards were driven off, and the problem remained. Only years of court cases would finally settle the issue in the city’s favor, but all that summer along the river where Mulholland worked and lived, the deputy zanjeros kept an alert watch for water thieves. They were authorized to arrest anyone taking water who could not produce a permit from the city.3

That same year, Reservoir No. 4 (Beaudry’s High Dam, also called the Woolen Ditch Dam—today’s Echo Park Lake) flooded part of the city when the embankment broke along the line of the exhaust tunnel. It released a flood that poured south to Agricultural Park (present campus of the University of Southern California) and east to Main and Spring Streets. No deaths occurred, and although property and crop damage was extensive, the greatest loss was the water itself, as fears arose of a possible water famine in the coming hot, dry summer. Two months after the flood, Mulholland was engaged in frantic efforts to repair and reopen a broken water line that threatened to shut off the city’s supply. On June 10, a break in the canal and reservoir ditch flooded and clogged the main supply ditch. Although Buena Vista Dam was fortunately full at the time, all consumers of city water were warned to use it moderately for two or three days. These mishaps, however, were simply minor precursors of those that lay ahead as the city began to boom.

WATER BOSSES AND CITIZENS

For all its local power and ability to stir controversy, the Los Angeles Water Company was small, even for a town of only 10,000. Its owners may have been among the wealthiest in the community, but when Mulholland started work, the entire personnel consisted of fewer than a dozen people: Superintendent Fred Eaton; Assistant Superintendent Tom Burns; Burns’s assistant, Thomas Brooks; a crew of four laborers; and two ditch and reservoir tenders. Eaton and Burns received salaries of $100.00 a month; the rest were paid $1.50 for a ten-hour day. The young superintendent was the son of builder Benjamin Eaton and the nephew by marriage of owner John Griffin. Being well connected to the management, he enjoyed the privilege of taking outside engineering work, so that he spent only about half his time with the company. The business office was near the plaza, and the working equipment was minimal. Brooks remembered that in the early 1880s the company had only two horses and two light one-horse spring wagons, two crude moisture-tapping “crows,” some water buckets, and a few hand-operated “San Jose” pumps. The city’s zanja department was equally rickety if one is to judge from a contemporary news item that reported the zanjeros failed to work one day because all the shovels were broken; in January 1882, the zanjero like-wise reported to the city council that he had thirty-three broken shovels that needed to be replaced.4

Although Mulholland as a deputy zanjero was only a digger and tender of ditches, the city zanjero, or water overseer, ranked next in importance to the alcalde. Indeed, the zanjero’s salary was larger than the mayor’s, a precedent that stands to this day. When Mulholland went to work for the private water company, the city zanjero was Don Cristobal Aguilar, three-time mayor of Los Angeles (1866, 1868, and 1871), who in 1868 had vetoed the ordinance that would have handed over the city’s water rights forever to private ownership.

Taking over from Aguilar in 1881 was Charles N. Jenkins, a crusty veteran who had been one of the only two men from Los Angeles to fight in the Union Army during the Civil War. After capture and a long imprisonment in Andersonville, he had returned to a Los Angeles so violently pro-Southern that he was forced to hide on San Clemente Island until some of the postwar hatreds died down. (Major Horace Bell, the other Union soldier from Los Angeles, claimed the pueblo had been so ardently pro-Confederate that “at the close of the Rebellion it was the most vindictive, uncompromising community in the United States.”) Charlie Jenkins, hot-tempered and combative, was city zanjero from 1880 to 1886. Thus, during the years of his apprenticeship, Mulholland became familiar with the clashes between Jenkins and water company workers. Thomas Brooks, in charge of constructing water mains for the company, remembered that once as he had stood in a ditch inspecting the work, Jenkins rode up and without preamble demanded that Brooks fire two men who, Jenkins felt, were interfering with city plans. When Brooks refused, Jenkins pulled a knife from his belt and demanded that Brooks come out of the ditch so that he could cut out his heart. When Brooks still refused, Jenkins simply pulled around and rode off.

Although Jenkins was of Southern California’s vanishing old lawless Anglo world (his brother, William, a member of the Rangers, had been with the posse that brought down Joaquin Murrieta), and although he kept the city council anxious with his demands, he also improved and modernized the city’s zanjas and wrote a city directive prescribing much more stringent duties for the deputy zanjero. Shortly after his appointment in 1881, the Los Angeles Herald noted that “The new Zanjero, Mr. Charles Jenkins, is giving great satisfaction … not only keeping the water supply of the East side up to the requisite standard, but he is actually selling water to the profit of the city. We note with pleasure any departure in the direction of swelling the city’s revenues.” Jenkins’s reign represented the high point of the zanja system, for with the land boom of the 1880s, agricultural land was increasingly sold for commercial and residential use.5

Citizen complaints about water were constant, and “warm and nasty” and “so offensive to the taste and smell, as to be not only undrinkable, but positively nauseating” are only a sample. Stories one summer circulated that “a man had been drowned in the reservoir and that the water had become tainted by the putrid carcass allowed to remain there.” Then variations of the story appeared: it was a cow, a horse, a sheep; two drowned “Chinamen,” then a Chinaman and a horse, then two Chinamen and an Indian; finally, an Indian and a mule. Next, a leading physician of the town opined that “the offensive effluvia was nothing less than that emanating from decomposed human remains,” for “he had smelled that smell on several occasions, and knew whereof he spoke.” It would be good not to drink the water, he warned, lest there appear a vast amount of diarrhea and typhoid fever.6

Finally, William J. Broderick, the collector of the water company, explained that the water from the mains had been shut off to make necessary repairs. When the supply had been turned on again, the rush of water had stirred up the offensive slimy sediment that had been collecting in the old pipes for a long time past. With repairs completed and a steady supply of water back in the pipes, he assured, the troubles should end. Two nights later, however, the “City Water Company got a handling without gloves in the Council,” and a committee of three councilmen along with the health officer were delegated to look into the matter. Investigations and debates continued for three months until October, when the board of health announced that the reservoir of the Los Angeles Water Company was “in as good condition as it can be kept.”

Among the water company’s owners were some of the leading capitalists in Los Angeles. (Some called them the political bosses of the city.) According to Thomas Brooks, they took a personal interest and active role in management but insisted that they receive a good return on every dollar spent for improvements. Mulholland’s later opinion, however, was that because they all were men of large means and property, “the business of the water works was but a mere incident to them.”7

The first to have a direct hand in shaping Mulholland’s destiny was William Hayes Perry (1832–1906), president of the water company. Perry’s life seemed to embody the wisdom of Horace Greeley’s advice, “Go west, young man.” The son of Michigan pioneers and a carpenter by training, in 1853 Perry joined a wagon party of about fifty, which included Colonel William Welles Hollister, of Santa Barbara, who was bringing a large band of stock to the Coast. Bedraggled and broke when he reached Los Angeles in 1854, Perry began work as a cabinetmaker but shortly advanced his affairs by opening a furniture store and factory, which in a few years, with the addition of new partners, prospered. By 1873, the firm of Perry, Woodworth & Co. was a leading dealer in lumber, hardware, and building supplies as Perry’s acquisitions increased: timber lands, lumber mills, shipping vessels, and spur tracks to railroads. He became a president and director of banks and of gas and oil companies. (In 1867 he had received the first franchise to supply gas for the city after agreeing to furnish free gas for lamps to illuminate the principal crossings on Main Street.) With his endless business connections and social involvements, Perry epitomized a laissez-faire capitalist of the Gilded Age.8

The story has often been told how Perry, as he made his rounds of the waterworks, spied a worker vigorously clearing weeds and debris along the zanja that led to the reservoir at Elysian Park. Calling out “What are you doing?” he received a rude “None of your damn business” from the young worker, who continued shoveling. After Perry had flicked his reins and ridden on, a fellow worker informed the rude laborer, Mulholland, that the departing man was president of the water company. Prepared to be fired, Mulholland headed for the office to turn in his time but instead was advanced to foreman of the work crew. For the next twenty-four years, Perry remained Mulholland’s boss, although the man who proved most significant in Mulholland’s career was his immediate superior, the superintendent and engineer of the water company, Fred Eaton.

AN ENGINEERING FRIEND

Although the friendship and later discord between Frederick Eaton and William Mulholland has become notorious, perhaps the most remarkable aspect of their relationship is that they should ever have met at all. Not only were they born oceans and continents apart, their backgrounds and social standing were equally diverse. Almost exact contemporaries, they were born within days in September 1855, but whereas Mulholland was born to obscure Dubliners, Eaton came from the top drawer of pioneer Los Angeles society and was surrounded throughout his childhood by a family of strong, enterprising men and accomplished women. His father, Benjamin S. Eaton, attorney, engineer, newspaperman, and superior court judge in Los Angeles County (1865), was also one of the founders and promoters of the Indiana Colony that evolved into the City of Pasadena. His mother, Helena Hayes, was one of the sisters of Benjamin J. Hayes, the noted jurist and judge who presided over land cases during the transition from Mexican to American rule and whose writings and diaries have been invaluable in reconstructing much about that period of California history. At the time of Fred’s birth, Helena’s sister, Louisa Hayes, had become the first woman teacher in the Los Angeles public schools. She subsequently married the enterprising Dr. J. S. Griffin, who, in addition to his medical practice and ownership in the water company, was superintendent of schools and an associate of the senior Eaton in the development of early Pasadena.9

Eaton claimed that his serious interest in engineering began only after his marriage in 1875, but he had begun his apprenticeship at fifteen under Charles E. Miles, the first engineer for the Los Angeles Water Company. Miles, called Prince Charlie by his associates and later referred to as the father of the water system, was an able hydraulic engineer who, in 1868, had built the small earth dam known as the Buena Vista Reservoir for the water company in the hills of present-day Elysian Park. From that water storage site, a pipeline 7,730 feet long ran down Buena Vista Street (now North Broadway), over Short Street (now Sunset Boulevard), to First and Main Streets. As the first cast iron pipe to be laid in Los Angeles, the project was innovative in its departure from the traditional open ditch or Spanish zanja. By 1880, both Fred Eaton and Bill Mulholland would find themselves at work on expansions of Miles’s projects.10


CHAPTER 4

Advancing in the Water Business

1880–1886

Mulholland’s promotion in 1880 moved him from his shack near the river to another rude dwelling west of North Broadway in the hills of what is today Elysian Park (approximately the present site of the Buena Vista Power Station). He was to be in charge of a crew laying an extension of twenty-two-inch pipe parallel to the west bank of the river to the toe of the Buena Vista Reservoir, which, under Fred Eaton, was undergoing one of its several enlargements. Living alone and largely indifferent to creature comforts, Mulholland possessed minimal housekeeping skills and would later recall that the place “looked like the devil.” His only heat was a smoky stove that his uncle, Roderick Deakers, rigged up for him. The tree-planting urges persisted, however, as out of his own pocket he paid for and planted more than a thousand saplings, as well as cultivating seedlings in salmon cans whose original contents had comprised a main staple of his diet. Around the site of the Buena Vista Reservoir he set out eucalyptus, palm, willow, and live oak, some of which still live over a century later on land now used as a park and picnic grounds.1

While Mulholland laid pipe during the summer of 1880, Fred Eaton went off with his father for three weeks on an expedition whose findings would one day alter the history of Southern California—and ultimately, some would say, that of the entire state. During the drought of the late 1870s, Benjamin Eaton had become concerned about water for his vineyards in Pasadena. Aware that cattlemen in the south took their herds north during the summer to Owens Valley, where water was abundant, Eaton decided to investigate. The scouting party included his sons, Fred and the younger George, along with two friends, Ed Mosher and J. H. Campbell, the latter a lad of thirteen who as an adult would serve as both city clerk and then city treasurer of Pasadena. Almost fifty years later, Campbell spoke of the three weeks he had spent with the Eatons in the Sierras. Judge Eaton, he remembered, took “measurements of water on all the streams, even going high into the mountains.” His son Fred Eaton would one day make profound use of what he observed with his father that summer.2

Throughout the 1880s, the increasing urbanization and anglicizing of Los Angeles dictated changes in the local water system. In 1881, the city council adopted the words ditch and water overseer to replace zanja and zanjero in the interests of easier pronunciation for English-speaking people. What did not change, however, were the continuing water complaints from the city’s almost 12,000 residents. (The 1880 census reported 11,128 inhabitants.) “There exist small fish about the size of the aphis in the liquid which the City Water Company palms off for drinking water,” began a typical grievance. Chronic dissatisfaction with a company perceived to be indifferent to the public interest would lead eventually to public ownership of the waterworks. That lay years ahead, but in his weekly Porcupine, Major Horace Bell would claim that in 1882 he had been the first to advocate “a municipal water system under the ownership and control of the people themselves.” In 1884, certain members of the city council pressed for the forfeiture of the water company’s franchise, but to no avail.3

Eaton and Mulholland in the first blush of their acquaintance must have stimulated each other’s engineering passions, as their early years at the water company constituted a sort of on-the-job technical institute. Not only did these two intelligent young men of such divergent backgrounds work together in dealing with immediate problems in the field; they also discussed theoretical matters along with the latest events in hydraulic engineering. They would not have been indifferent, for example, to the announcement in the local press on January 7, 1882, that the largest aqueduct in the world—New York’s 40G-mile-long Croton Aqueduct—had just been completed at a cost of $12 million. In contrast, Eaton and Mulholland struggled with a small-town water system that seemed always to be on the brink of collapse.

When work on Buena Vista was completed four years later, Eaton was about to leave the water company and Mulholland had already left to pursue other ventures (one was a junket with his brother, Hugh, to Washington State, “to study rivers”), so that neither was present in August 1884, when a group of city fathers inspected the newly enlarged works. In its improved state the reservoir was now surrounded by a 14-footthick wall of cement and stone, some of the largest of which weighed 2,000 pounds. Surrounding the outside of the wall was a ditch or moat to catch any overflow from the dam, while walks planned as a scenic promenade around the dam offered panoramic views of the city and surrounding hills. Although assured for the time being of an adequate water supply, the city could never take its water for granted, as warnings soon appeared in the papers admonishing users of company water to guard against “unnecessary waste in water closets” and to sprinkle their grounds only between 6:00 A.M. and 8:00 A.M. and between 6:00 P.M. and 8:00 P.M.4

Mulholland’s move to the Buena Vista area in 1880 not only represented an advancement (and a salary increase from $50 to $65 a month), but also brought him closer to downtown and the public library. A dedicated reader, Mulholland once pronounced, “Damn a man who doesn’t read books.” His granddaughter, Lillian Sloan Macedo, never forgot his rebuke when he came upon her as a child playing jacks on the sidewalk with a little friend. “Aren’t there any good books in the house that you girls could be reading?” he wanted to know. Mary Foy, the city’s first librarian, remembered him as “one studious young man” who had once taken out and then renewed for many months “an enormous volume on water power development which nobody else ever wanted to read.”5

Mulholland’s desire to get ahead is evident in his joining with Eaton in 1881 to become officers of Los Angeles Lodge No. 35, International Order of Odd Fellows. Such a group provided not only sociability but also access to the men who controlled civic and business affairs. For as open and free-wheeling as Los Angeles may have seemed, its prosperous new American arrivals from the East and Midwest carried with them class and caste distinctions to which a young Irish immigrant worker would have been sensitive. A visiting journalist in March 1882 artlessly revealed the increasing assumptions of Anglo superiority in this remote provincial community when he first described Los Angeles as bustling, crowded, and full of “strangely different” sights: the old Spanish town with its onestory adobes, “simply a portion of the old Aztec empire left in the centre of a progressive town of our great republic”; the Chinese quarters, “a little chip from China”; and the Frenchmen, the Germans, the Jews, and the Indians, “gathered here for health, or pleasure or profit.” But, he confessed, he breathed freer as he entered on Fort Street (now Broadway), “the beautiful, new and refined Anglo-Saxon part of the town with its fine architecture, its well-kept lawns, its evergreen trees.”6

CIVIC DISCONTENT AND COMPANY DERELICTION

Mulholland’s move to the Buena Vista area in 1880 also increased his contact with the water company’s staff and directors, a handful of men who not only enjoyed a camaraderie at work but also seem always to have closed ranks when embattled by the frequent public attacks and complaints aimed at their performance. In all his years with the company, Mulholland kept a discreet public silence about his employers. Only after the city took over in 1902 did he voice critical comments, for as he once told his nephew and namesake, William B. Mulholland, “When you go to work for somebody, you do his work for him.”7

Tom Brooks, who came to work for the water company in 1883 during one of Mulholland’s absences, found the system somewhat primitive. To lay pipes, men simply lowered them with ropes into the trenches; only as the decade came to an end did more sophisticated equipment such as cranes, tripods, power pumps, cutting or welding torches, and drytapping machines begin to appear. Brooks described directors reluctant to make important improvements if doing so meant incurring heavy indebtedness, while he and three laborers struggled to keep the water flowing to customers: “They insisted that every dollar spent must show a return of 100 cents.” “Some job!” he once laconically remarked as he went on to explain that in those days a man had to love water and unexpected shower baths if he wished to tap into a cast iron main to insert one-inch or smaller pipe for the purpose of providing a water service. The only equipment for the job was “a rather crude affair known as a ‘crow’ or ‘the old man’ which was chained to the main about to be tapped while a special drill and reamer produced an opening with the correct taper” for the corporation cock (the part that connected the service pipe to the main). The trick was to withdraw the drill under full main pressure and drive in the corporation cock without getting oneself and everyone in the neighborhood soaked. Because one needed a hand as steady as a surgeon’s to do the job well, and even then, because there could be no guarantee, nearby storekeepers and occupants of rooms in line with the water were warned to close doors and windows while pedestrians were alerted to beware of a soaking.

The water company seemed to pay little heed to public relations, as when it announced in May 1879 that it would charge extra for any house-hold with a bathtub. The city health officer quickly protested the fee to the city council, arguing that bathing should be encouraged in the city. The company was constantly laggard in its responsibilities to install fire hydrants and supply water free of charge to public schools, city hospitals, and jails. At one point the company even balked at paying for the water that the fire company used to put out blazes. In the matter of street sprinkling, the city and the company fought a long court battle over who should pay for the water used to lay the dust in the streets. Nor was this an inconsiderable matter, as dust was the smog of that era. In 1884 a disgruntled real estate man reported to his hometown paper in Marshalltown, Iowa, that Los Angeles was the most lied about city on the Coast and that its inhabitants lived for seven months of the year in so much dust that “they can’t see. … As to water,” he wrote, “it is controlled by a few and you must pay just what they have a mind to ask.” The Evening Express, then owned in part by members of the water company, indignantly described the critic as a failed real estate salesman who was “too honest to work and too lazy to steal.”8

Water company representatives never failed to attend the city council’s ritual of establishing new water rates at the beginning of each year, and at the least hint of a rate reduction or demand for increased services, they bleated holy poverty. In 1882, for example, the council announced reductions that the company declared unacceptable, claiming to have expended $400,000 up to this time, to have declared no dividend for the past three years, and not to have paid salaries to the president and officers. After two years of court battles, the state supreme court ruled in favor of the city, but the company promptly appealed, and the wrangling continued.9

While this debate proceeded in the courts and work advanced on the Buena Vista Reservoir, a landslide in 1882 destroyed a flume at the north end of Pearl Street (today, Figueroa), so that Eaton had to begin excavating a new tunnel that would connect the main supply ditch from Crystal Springs to the Buena Vista Reservoir. A Times editorial worried that the city “has created a good part of its debt by its water system, having spent probably $200,000 on the whole” to produce works “of an ephemeral character as yet.” It concluded with the hope that something more substantial than the present trenches and wooden flumes would appear. With a promise to continue its water mains out to Washington Street, the water company began laying a four-inch cast iron main from Seventh and Main to the southern line. As the area south of Washington Advancing in the Water Business, 1880–1886 was then largely fruit orchards and vineyards supplied with irrigation water from the zanjas, the new line proved adequate for domestic purposes for the next few years.10

A BRIEF LEAVE OF ABSENCE

Because the city looked forward to a transcontinental train connection, hopes stirred in 1884 for better times, as notices of new land developments increased along with booster talk about rising values. Heavy rains and flooding in the winter and spring of 1883–1884 provided plenty of jobs repairing damages to the city. Rainfall of 38.18 inches added up to the wettest period in the history of recorded rainfall in Los Angeles, whose annual average was less than 15 inches. One old-timer remembered that every bridge except the one at Aliso Street was swept away, along with from thirty to fifty houses at the southern end of the city. Many lives were lost, and rail service between San Francisco and Los Angeles stopped for six days after the track washed out in the San Fernando Valley.11

When Mulholland returned from his sojourn in Washington State, he and Fred Eaton attempted unsuccessfully to contract independent jobs with the city. Next, with another associate, D. McGregor (who later worked on the Owens Valley Aqueduct), Mulholland submitted a proposal to clean the cave in the Zanja Madre Tunnel and “repair and retimber it in a substantial manner.” This time the city awarded a contract on October 14, 1884, requiring that the job be completed by December 14. With final bills handed to the city on December 2, Mulholland returned to the water company on December 20 as foreman of a large crew of laborers working on a ditch and flume connecting to the Buena Vista Reservoir. One surviving company record book indicates that the workforce varied between twenty-eight and eighty men during the six months that the job continued. For a ten-hour, six-day week, the crew received $2 a day, while Mulholland received $3, or $72 a month.12

Shortly thereafter, in a dispute with Perry in early 1885, Eaton walked out on his job as superintendent of the water company. The following year he became the city surveyor and engineer at a salary of $200 a month. With the boom of the 1880s under way, he and his father also began to profit from increasing sales of their holdings in Pasadena. Perry replaced Eaton with W. J. Kelley, whom Brooks later described as “more of an office man than an engineer.” 

ON THE SESPE

Mulholland remained on the water company payroll until September 1885, when he left for a job in Ventura County that kept him away from the city for the next eight months. Perry and associates had engaged him and another engineer, Philip (Phil) Wintz, to design and lay out a system of irrigation ditches for the Sespe Land and Water Company, which was to supply water and power to the embryonic town site of Fillmore. Wintz, a young Virginian recently employed by the water company, became a lifelong associate and would one day be in charge of building the Haiwee Dam on the Owens River Aqueduct. As the Sespe Land and Water Company’s location in the Santa Clara Valley was fifty-two miles from Los Angeles with only one train running daily, the men remained there from late spring to the end of summer 1886. They grew to love the beauty of the area along the Santa Clara River with its background of rugged mountains and picturesque ranchos. Probably in payment for services, the men acquired approximately twenty acres each, on which they planted orange trees along Sespe Creek. (Mulholland would hold his Sespe land until 1903 or 1904, when he sold because of water scarcity.) Ironically, although this area would one day figure in the greatest tragedy of Mulholland’s life, his original work on the Sespe has endured. As late as 1966, a Fillmore rancher reported that the routes Mulholland and Wintz laid out for irrigation lines were still in use. Perry’s group also hired Mulholland to study the Sespe River’s potential to provide power. He concluded that it would never be a feasible source of power because of its “fitful and unreliable” stream flow.13

When Mulholland returned to town in midsummer 1886, the water company was in the midst of a major overhaul of its Crystal Springs system. As the land by the river had become increasingly settled and cultivated, especially near its bend by Griffith Park, the banks had eroded and the water become progressively silted. Where the stream had once run clear, it was now clouded and often foul tasting, “a by-word of reproach” among the citizenry. At a cost of $100,000, the company was about to build a closed-conduit system 27,000 feet long and able to deliver about ten million gallons of water to the city every twenty-four hours. The three-by-four-foot conduit, beginning at the eastern edge of Griffith Park and extending to Dayton Avenue, was to be constructed of “butt-cut redwood—all carefully selected—the finest uniform quality of this kind of timber ever used in a similar undertaking on this coast,” ran the company boast.14

Devised by local civil and hydraulic engineer J. P. Culver, the plan was not without its critics. Eaton’s opposition to the use of wooden pipe may have led to his leaving the water company, for years later, in a pamphlet written for a 1905 Oakland sewer bond election, he harked back to 1886, when he had “watched the construction of a wooden conduit by the LA City Water Co., which I had formerly advised against, and observed its gradual decay thereafter, rendering the conduit entirely useless in less than ten years.” Mulholland, awarded the contract to oversee the tricky flume and tunnel-building section, was to write in the same pamphlet that the timbers, lined with Portland cement and covered with earth to insure transporting the water in the cleanest possible circumstances, were giving trouble within three years of its completion and “in less than ten years had to be abandoned altogether.”15

Shortly after beginning the project, the water company, for reasons unknown, took over Mulholland’s contract and retained him as general foreman. At a time when labor organizations were struggling to break the contract system and obtain an eight-hour day, the company crews rotated on ten-hour day and night shifts so they could complete the difficult task by winter. Living in the camp with a crew of almost ninety men, Mulholland earned $5 a day while the company charged him $2.50 a day for board.

While working on this job, Mulholland became a naturalized American citizen in October 1886. When he registered to vote for the first time in November, he gave his occupation as contractor and his address as Sepulveda (then a section on the west bank of the Los Angeles River south of Mission Street). The job was also memorable because of the arrival of two tough, roistering Irish workingmen, Pat Harkins and Handsome Brady. Mulholland in aftertimes enjoyed recalling a payday when the paymaster had tossed down two silver dollars to Harkins as he completed his ten hours in the muddy ditch. As Harkins caught and flung them aloft again, he shouted to Brady, “To hell with Poverty! Tell the old lady to get out the big pot.”

As work on this project wound down, fate intervened to secure Mulholland a job that, in a sense, became his for life. In November, during a recreational weekend at Santa Monica, Superintendent Kelly dropped dead of a heart attack. Perry first offered Assistant Superintendent Brooks the position, but Brooks, then twenty-four and feeling his lack of experience, suggested that Mulholland at thirty-one might be better suited. Perry offered, was accepted, and at the end of 1886, Bill Mulholland became superintendent of the waterworks.


CHAPTER 5

The New Superintendent

1887–1892

BOOM TIMES AND WASHOUTS

Mulholland’s advancement to superintendent of the water company coincided with the city’s first land boom, which, though brief, was dramatic. The population of Los Angeles bounded from 11,000 to 50,000 in less than three years as large areas of heretofore unoccupied land were promoted and established as town sites and new communities. With the upheaval, the need for public services became acute, so Mulholland and Eaton, the two chiefly responsible for maintaining the city’s mains and drains, must at times have felt that they were the busiest men in the expanding town.

Heavy rains fell during Mulholland’s first months as superintendent, and although rainfall for the entire season proved normal (14.05 inches), downpours in February did almost as much damage as those that had fallen in 1883–1884. Streets flooded, bridges went out, and water from the Big Tujunga Wash roared into the Los Angeles River, destroying the railroad bridge east of San Fernando. Rumors arose that Reservoir No. 4 north of Temple Street was about to break as it had six years before. Although the reservoir held, to avert a panic, police were sent out to assure neighboring dwellers that they were safe. The city remained isolated for several days and suffered extensive damage. For a time, bridge washouts completely cut off Boyle Heights.1

Serving his second year as city surveyor, Eaton had to deal with problems not only of sewage and sanitation but also those of reordering the growing city’s infrastructure, such as grading and recontouring streets in the hilly downtown areas and replacing bridges that had been lost in the flood. Controversy encircled him through most of the year, beginning in March when he had to defend himself against the charge that he had made false statements to the mayor and the council as to the cost of bids to replace the destroyed Kuhrts Street Bridge, where Main Street extended east across the river. Suggestions that he had colluded with a low bidder for his own profit drew a spirited self-defense from Eaton, who denounced “ignorant men who will attempt to bring disgrace upon a man hitherto having the confidence and respect of his fellow-citizens.” Ultimately, the council found no blame in the matter, or as a Times reporter skeptically commented, “And you are right, and we are right, and all is right as right can be.”2

Eaton spent much of the remainder of the year making plans and surveys for an enlargement of the city sewerage that would involve expenditures of over a million dollars and that, under the name of the Eaton Plan, was presented for consideration to the city council in September. In November, a reporter caught up with Eaton on his return from an expedition to scout a route for the Salt Lake and Los Angeles Railroad, which would come into the city through the Arroyo Seco. Asked about his sewer plans, Eaton said they were still under consideration but stressed that “the situation is getting serious,” for in the Vernon district surplus sewage was overflowing the land. Before leaving office at the end of the year, Eaton also revealed that his predecessor, George C. Knox, had taken thousands of dollars’ worth of maps made during his term of office, along with field books containing notes of his surveys. Eaton asserted that no one who worked for a salary with the city had a right to help himself to such property. Eaton announced that he would not seek a reappointment to the post and that he already had engagements for the coming year.3

Meanwhile that summer, citizens once more had complained of too many fish in their water pipes and of dust and inadequate street sprinkling because the foot-dragging water company had failed again to install the hydrants that the council had ordered it to provide. The company finally did comply, so that by the end of the year, Mayor William Workman expressed satisfaction with the streets’ condition. Other vexations confronted Mulholland in his first year as superintendent as several terrible fires had resulted in heavy property loss because the water company’s mains had been too small to supply enough water to extinguish the conflagrations. As it became incumbent upon the company to enlarge the system, Mulholland found himself supervising the placement of increasingly large pipelines into the most heavily populated areas of the city.

At the end of 1887, most of the vineyards and orchards in the city having been subdivided so that zanjas were no longer much needed for irrigation, Mayor Workman called for a system of filtration and improved piping. He optimistically believed enough water was available “to supply a city of over a million people if it is properly handled. … We are blessed,” he concluded, “with an abundance of water in Los Angeles, but the condition of some of it when it comes to the houses for domestic use is the reverse of tempting.”4

EATON HAS A FAILURE

At the beginning of 1888, while Mulholland was still installing the pipeline on Buena Vista Street, Fred Eaton left the city to work on one of his engagements. During the boom years, no piece of Southern California seemed impossible to develop, so in 1887, in the remote scenic northwest corner of the San Fernando Valley on land formerly owned by Benjamin F. Porter, arose yet one more town site, this one bearing the idyllic name of Chatsworth Park. The promoters, George F. Crow and a group called the San Fernando Valley Water Company, predicted a glorious future for this beautiful but isolated area by the Santa Susana Mountains and announced grandiose plans for one of the “largest systems of waterworks in this part of the State.” Eaton was to oversee building a series of reservoirs that would catch the overflow from a main dam in Brown’s Canyon, through which, the promoters falsely claimed, flowed the headwaters of the Los Angeles River. A year after the completion of Eaton’s first reservoir, however, the dream went a-glimmering. Not only did the boom end, but on December 24, 1889, after heavy rains, Eaton’s dam washed out. Because the area was unpopulated, the damage was not catastrophic except to the builders’ hopes.5

MULHOLLAND MOVES UP

At the beginning of 1888, during the laying of the 22-inch pipeline on Buena Vista Street, Mulholland lived nearby and alone in digs at 103 Buena Vista. When he registered to vote that year, he stated that he was superintendent of the city water company and for the first time identified himself as a civil engineer. Not all of his job demands, however, were of an engineering nature. On May 11, 1888, he was summoned to the Buena Vista Reservoir to recover the body of a young woman whose life in California had turned bitter. Boys out hunting had seen her walk up to the reservoir, place her hat, wrap, and satchel on the ground, climb the stone wall of the dam, and jump. While the others ran off for help, one of the boys leaped in to save her, but she struggled so violently that he failed. With rope and grappling irons, Mulholland and the dam keeper retrieved the corpse from the water.6

The boom proved profitable to the water company, for on March 8, 1888, its directors called a meeting of stockholders to consider “the propriety of increasing the capital to $1,240,000, divided into 2,400 shares.” A week later came word that the company would build new headquarters, and on Saturday, May 26, the old overcrowded office building north of the plaza was vacated as everything and everybody connected to the domestic waterworks moved to a new, two-storied brick and stone building at the corner of Alameda and Marchessault Streets.7

Said to have cost $11,000, the new building had a ground floor that comprised a workshop and storage area for pipes and equipment. From an entrance on Marchessault, a winding stone stairway climbed to the second floor and opened into a reception room, “well-lighted and comfortably arranged,” separated from the main office by “a large carved window of pitch-pine.” The main office contained desks for the clerical staff, while one wide door led off to a room for Chief Clerk S. B. Caswell’s special use. All the interior fixtures were of polished pitch-pine, neat but not gaudy. In addition to a directors’ boardroom upstairs, there were sleeping rooms for the superintendent and the company foreman. In effect, Mulholland and Brooks were house mates and, moreover, were never away from the job. One reporter explained, “Hitherto, when any accident occurred during the night, it was a matter of extreme difficulty to procure the company’s workmen to repair the damage, but the presence of the superintendent and the foreman upon the premises at night renders it now a matter of less difficulty to attend to any damage and have it at once remedied, though it occur in the dead of night.”8

Mulholland now lived as if back on shipboard, with round-the-clock interruptions to sleep. This may have proven no great hardship, however, as his children remembered that he never seemed to need much sleep. He was a lifelong catnapper who could doze off in a car or train for fifteen or twenty minutes and awaken fully refreshed and alert. He claimed to have acquired this ability on watches at sea, and it was to serve him in good stead during the years of aqueduct construction when he traveled constantly and arduously between Los Angeles and Owens Valley.

Out of that brief period when Mulholland and Brooks shared living quarters, they forged a lifelong friendship, for both men stayed with the water company to the end of their working days. At the time of his retirement in 1938, Brooks had been with the city’s water system for fiftyfive years. Associates said that Tom Brooks never took a vacation in his life, and once, as he and Mulholland watched some laborers work on a ditch, Brooks remarked that the men were growing old, to which Mulholland replied, “Yes. They got old working for you.” One of the few who knew Mulholland well in his early years with the water company, Brooks later remembered that when they first met, “Bill Mulholland’s library consisted chiefly of Fanning’s Treatise on Hydraulics, Trautwine’s Engineer’s Pocket Book, Kent’s Mechanical Engineer’s Pocket Book, a Geometry, a Trigonometry, and Shakespeare’s Works.” He was also, Brooks remembered, “very fond of Grand Opera.”9

MARRIAGE AND A GOLD WATCH

Within two years, however, Mulholland moved on to a new living arrangement, for in 1890, he married. Also that year he received a gold watch from a grateful water company for services beyond the call of duty when he had braved the torrential rains of Christmas week, 1889–1890, to save the city’s water supply. During the downpours, the Los Angeles River had changed its course and broken the water connections at Crystal Springs; or as company president Perry explained, “The Los Angeles River got on a tear, cut a new channel through an alfalfa patch, and came rushing down upon the brick conduit then forming the head of the system with such force that it was knocked into a cocked hat.” The water brought with it such an accumulation of sand and detritus that it filled the conduit until only a small opening “about as big as your arm” remained. If it had closed completely, no water would have flowed to the city, and so the morning before Christmas 1889, “William Mulholland, superintendent of the company, jumped out of bed when the alarm was given, … and he didn’t get a chance to undress and go to bed like a Christian for four days; but he got the conduit open, and the city was not without its regular supply of water for a minute.” Perry estimated that in two hours’ time, the damage had amounted to $100,000, adding, “I did not know but that the city would have to go back to water carts for its supply.”10

Two weeks before he was awarded his gold watch at a company dinner, Mulholland married Lillie Ferguson. They had met when he was overseeing a major project across the river from her father’s farm in the summer of 1889. With a crew of one hundred men and several foremen, he had begun laying percolation pipes at Crystal Springs in an effort to improve and increase the water supply for a growing population that now consumed the equivalent of the Buena Vista Reservoir’s contents every two days in summer and every three in winter.11 Rather than travel back and forth to office headquarters, Mulholland had moved out to the work camp near a new tract development called Ivanhoe. Ivanhoe was a product of the boom, when tracts and town sites sprang up like weeds and wildflowers in spring. Perhaps James Slauson caught the spirit of the times best. When asked why he was laying out a town site in the Azusa district amid boulders, cactus, and dry wash, Slauson replied, “If it’s not good for a town it isn’t good for anything.”

Lillie Ferguson lived with her family in neighboring Kenilworth, which, like Ivanhoe, was on Los Feliz lands, the general location today identified by surviving street names taken from the novels of Sir Walter Scott: Waverly, Rowena, Locksley, Kenilworth, and Ivanhoe. Rowena Reservoir (northwest of Silver Lake Reservoir) also remains a landmark of Ivanhoe. Kenilworth stretched to the northwest over the hills and looked down on the banks of the Los Angeles River. Among those who had purchased land there was Mulholland’s future father-in-law, James Ferguson, a farmer and former hotel keeper from northern Michigan. Ferguson’s ten acres lay north of present-day Griffith Park and bordered the Crystal Springs Land and Water Company’s main supply ditch, where percolation pipes were to be laid. When the company wished to situate a correct surveying line and needed to drill a hole slanted toward a certain point, that point proved to be on James Ferguson’s land. Seeking permission to enter the property, Mulholland one day knocked at Ferguson’s front door and was met by his twenty-one-year-old daughter, Lillie. She later told her daughters that the first time she saw Mulholland, she knew that they would marry.12

The courtship was brief, and the nuptials took place on a warm and cloudless day in the Fergusons’ home on Thursday, July 3, 1890. When the job at Crystal Springs was completed, the newlyweds moved to their first “official” home at 914 Buena Vista (today, North Broadway), where they remained for the next three years and where their first three children were born: Rose Ellen (1891), William Perry (1892), and Thomas Ferguson (1894).

THE AMBITIONS OF EATON

The nineties saw Fred Eaton’s ascendancy in civic affairs. By the end of the decade, while William Mulholland remained a little-noted local figure, Eaton had become mayor of Los Angeles (1899–1900). Aside from their shared capacity for hard work and commitment to the engineering profession, the two men differed in ways that reflected their distinct backgrounds and paternal influences: Eaton’s father was a California entrepreneur and civic booster driven by the competitive urge to strive and win, whereas Mulholland’s was an Irish public servant who had suppressed his spontaneity and individuality in the service of an inimical ruling order. By the time Mulholland married at almost thirty-five, Eaton had been a husband for fifteen years and was the father of two adolescent children. He moreover maintained a full calendar of social, business, and civic activities among the leading lights of the town. On account of the lack of documentation, much about Eaton’s character is uncertain and perhaps will remain so. Existing contemporary accounts suggest that, in addition to his outstanding engineering and business abilities, Eaton was an indefatigable go-getter and joiner. Except for the arts, no aspect of civic life escaped his participation at one time or another. He held city office as engineer and surveyor; he was active in real estate, land, and water development; he served with the first volunteer fire brigade; and he worked on committees for such events as the city’s Fourth of July celebrations and the formal opening of the Broadway Market. In 1890, he participated in the founding of the National Bank of California in Los Angeles, whose directors included associates from his water and transportation ventures.13

Nor was he averse to frivolity, as a reporter once noted that “Fred Eaton, in his trips to Santa Monica, devotes himself to showing bathers a new trick in the waves. He has not ventured to try and instruct any of his lady friends … as it is the marine equivalent of standing on your head on horseback.” Although he had been a Democrat when Mulholland first met him, he later became an active Republican, even serving on the committee that greeted President Benjamin Harrison on his visit to the city in April 1891. Earlier, in July 1890, he had been among the organizers of the annual roundup and picnic of the Union League Club (a center of Republican power), at what was then called San Juan-by-the-Sea, two miles from Mission San Juan Capistrano on the oceanfront lands of Don Marco Forster and Judge Richard Egan. The two-day revelry of important and wealthy Republican loyalists included such jollities as yacht races, swimming, games, and feasts with a Mexican flavor. The menus featured barbecue, or “cabeza tatemada, hecho al gusto de Don Marco Forster,” along with enchiladas, chile con carne, frijoles guisado, chiles rellenos, cerveza y vino tinto. The invitation also included the caveat, “if you expect to retire, take your blankets, and if this is your month to bathe furnish your own towels.”14

Eaton was also involved in transportation schemes, including the promotion of an electric railway system for the city, which was rapidly outgrowing its horse-drawn car lines. He had participated earlier in a cable car company that failed and, while still city surveyor, had also played a role in gaining the Los Angeles, Salt Lake and Atlantic Railway’s franchise for a right of way through the city via the Arroyo Seco. Partly impeded by economic hard times, none of these efforts succeeded until 1895, when Moses Hazeltine Sherman came to town from Arizona Territory with his partner, Eli Clark, and secured loans of $15 million dollars from Chicago capitalists to establish a successful electric rail system, the Pacific Electric Railway. When Henry Huntington later purchased the system, it evolved into the efficient interurban network of trolleys that today are happily remembered, not to say sentimentalized, as the Big Red Cars.15

Promotion and boosting were in Eaton’s blood. A disciple of his father and uncles, between engagements of planning and building local dams, sewers, and rail lines, he planned land developments. On his wife’s and mother-in-law’s inherited property at Spring and Second Streets, he designed and built a commercial building, the Burdick Block, at a cost of $140,000. During the boom, he subdivided the Buena Vista Tract south of Chavez Ravine and immediately southeast of today’s Dodger Stadium, and he surveyed and platted downtown tracts.16

A MENTOR FOR MULHOLLAND

While Fred Eaton pursued his hectic career in the 1890s, William Mulholland, apart from his newfound domestic life, could be said to have earned an advanced degree in engineering when, in August 1891, he patented a device utilizing wave force to generate power. He also acquired skills in business administration and political science, as he either witnessed or participated in the struggles and intrigues among the City of Los Angeles and rival private interests over who would control the waters of the Los Angeles River after the Los Angeles Water Company’s lease expired in 1898. As he planned and oversaw the city’s waterworks, he became privy to the company’s business maneuvers, some of which flaunted such egregious unbridled laissez-faire capitalism that they called out for the pen of a Mark Twain, an Ambrose Bierce, or at the least, an O. Henry.

William Perry’s influence was immense in the 1880s and ’90s, when the notion of conflict of interest seemed a matter of indifference. At one point, he was both president of the water company and a member of the city council’s water committee, the latter committee setting water rates for the very company of which he was president.

By this time most of the old Spanish-Mexican hacendados and rancheros were in decline, and many of the early Anglos of the pueblo were losing influence as the city filled with newcomers who were generally white, midwestern, and Protestant. During what journalist Phil Townsend Hanna called the Middle Nordic Period, old-timer Major Horace Bell, who had been a vibrant force in the legal and journalistic life of Los Angeles after the Civil War, grew increasingly disenchanted with his beloved Southern California. In the 1880s he had turned over the editorship of his lively weekly, The Porcupine, to his oldest son, Charles. It soon fell into decline, as Charles, a notorious boozer and womanizer, lacked his father’s discipline and devotion to the job. The major himself became increasingly irrelevant in his hometown as he continued to engage in the old ways of the pueblo: drinking, roistering, challenging enemies to duels, and engaging in cantankerous litigations. Meanwhile, his sons provided scandal for the local press with their escapades of drunkenness, gambling, drug use, disorder, and in one instance, embezzlement. Although Bell was only two years older than Perry (and would outlive him by ten), he seemed to be from an earlier epoch—that of the freebooting, freethinking frontiersman—while Perry exemplified the entrepreneurial and acquisitive spirit of the Gilded Age.

Mulholland, a generation younger than either and shaped in another country, belonged to a new breed who believed that science and reason held the best hope for mankind. Though he may have shared with Bell a tart tongue and sometimes sardonic outlook on human folly, he nevertheless had cast his lot with entrepreneurs like Perry and Eaton. Eaton was Mulholland’s colleague and instructor in engineering matters, but when it came to city politics and business, William H. Perry had also been a mentor.

By 1890, Perry and Mulholland had sustained a twelve-year relationship as employer and employee, but in spite of their bonhomie on the job—Tom Brooks remembered that many of the old water company’s board of directors meetings consisted largely of Mulholland’s entertaining the assemblage with yarns of his seafaring days—a social chasm yawned between the two. Perry, after all, was of the city’s elite. His Pearl Street home was the setting for frequent soirees and musicales that featured the singing talents of his daughter, Mamie, and for lavish parties for the younger daughter, Florence, all of which were faithfully reported in the newspapers. Into this social sphere Mulholland and his wife were not to enter.17
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